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            INTRODUCTION

            TWO PRIME MINISTERS

         

         These diaries are a tale of two Prime Ministers. The first dominated the political landscape for over a decade, winning three general elections before losing the confidence of her colleagues and being forced to resign. The second was her anointed successor who took up the baton and against all expectations won another election, before seeing his party mired in a bitter civil war over Europe and falling to a landslide defeat at the polls. Meanwhile, the relationship between the two suffered a spectacular breakdown, with the current and past occupants of No. 10 eventually coming to regard the other with barely concealed hostility.

         I had the rare experience of observing both of these figures at close quarters, during a career that spanned almost three decades. In the 1970s I was appointed to Margaret Thatcher’s first shadow Cabinet, serving under her in opposition until we won the 1979 general election. I was then a member of her Cabinet throughout the 1980s, standing down just months before she herself fell from office. In the 1990s her successor, John Major, recalled me to frontline politics, first to accompany him on the campaign trail in the 1992 general election, then afterwards to become Chairman of the Conservative Party. In the latter role I saw on a daily basis how Thatcher’s behaviour after leaving office impacted negatively upon her successor.

         It is perhaps inevitable that she should have cast such a long shadow. Margaret Thatcher was one of the most significant and consequential politicians of the postwar period, and despite it being more than thirty years since she left office, her legacy continues to exert a significant influence on the Conservative Party and on wider British politics. Whether viiishe is revered or reviled, she cannot be ignored by students of politics or history.

         The fascination which surrounds her is of course primarily due to her political achievements as Prime Minister, and the way that her governments reshaped the terms of political debate after the unrest of the 1970s. It is also in large part a result of her personal attributes. She was Britain’s first female Prime Minister, which would have granted her a place in the history books regardless of how she had performed in office. But it was her character, relentlessly combative and fiercely determined, that marked her out as someone quite different to the previous occupants of No. 10.

         The Greek tragedy of November 1990 is another factor in the enduring Thatcher mythology. The nature of her departure from office was a trauma from which she herself never recovered, and sections of the Conservative Party took many years to get over it, if indeed they ever have. As a fallen heroine, her achievements and political views were sanctified by her devout followers, who were reluctant to concede that her own mistakes and hubris had contributed to her downfall.

         While my record of those years underlines the significance of Margaret Thatcher’s time in office, her role in the years following her resignation tends to be overlooked. This is the part of the story on which I hope these diaries cast a new light. What is clear on re-reading them is how her bitterness at her ejection from office manifested itself as a quite unwarranted and personal campaign to undermine the leadership of John Major, the man she had previously promoted and endorsed as her successor. She allied herself with his Eurosceptic critics in open defiance of his policy on Europe and directly encouraged Conservative MPs to vote against his government. Major himself has since described her behaviour as ‘intolerable’, and as I saw at the time, his anger towards her frequently boiled over. As Party Chairman it was my job to mediate between them on a number of occasions, and this became ever more tricky as their relationship soured.

         John Major was, and is, a good man, whose talents were evident when he was appointed as a junior minister under me in the DHSS. He later ixconfided to me that his ultimate ambition was to be Chancellor of the Exchequer, not Prime Minister. Events propelled him into No. 10 but in retrospect, I think he might have been happier to have indeed remained next door at No. 11, although it is to his immense credit that he persevered while consolidating so many of the gains of the 1980s. In 1992 he won a great personal victory but the slow (or not so slow) disintegration of the Conservative Party in the years afterwards put him in an impossible situation. He was sensitive to criticism, and spent more time than was healthy obsessing over the press’s opinion of him. Previously a well-adjusted and down-to-earth personality, the pressures of the premiership, not surprisingly, made him tense and frustrated. It is testament to his innate character that once out of office he returned to his previous equanimity, in stark contrast to his predecessor.

         Although these diaries are indeed the tale of two Prime Ministers, it is Margaret Thatcher who looms largest. What I hope they demonstrate is how her influence, for good or ill, permeated the politics of the Conservative Party over a prolonged period of time. The diaries begin in January 1980, seven months into the new Thatcher government, but before embarking upon the day-to-day narrative, it might be helpful if I provide a brief prelude, casting my mind back to the real start of the Thatcher years, five years earlier.

         * * *

         In February 1975, three young Conservative backbenchers met in a small office high up in the main building of the House of Commons to consider the Conservative Party’s future prospects in the wake of the dramatic leadership election. The three were Ken Clarke, Leon Brittan and myself. All three of us were very much at the beginning of our political careers – and all three of us were not impressed by the decision that the parliamentary party had just made to replace Edward Heath with Margaret Thatcher.

         None of us had the traditional public school background of a Tory MP. I had progressed via the eleven-plus examination to a grammar xschool in Essex, King Edward VI, Chelmsford; Ken had won a scholarship to Nottingham High School; whilst Leon went to Haberdashers in North London. We had all been to university at Cambridge where differences in school, let alone religion, counted for little and then gone our separate ways. Ken married his life-long love, Gillian, based himself in Birmingham and practised at the Midlands Bar. Leon, who by common consent was the brightest of our Cambridge generation, had begun to build up his career as a defamation barrister. He had been told by the clerk in his chambers that if he persisted in politics he would get no more work from him. He persisted. As for myself, I had spent almost nine years on The Times, when for much of that period there were advertisements on the front page and all the reporters were anonymous. I became the paper’s first home affairs correspondent, covering the area presided over by first, Roy Jenkins and then, Jim Callaghan. In the best traditions of Fleet Street my lack of knowledge did not prevent me from being sent off to cover the 1967 Middle East War.

         Our concern after Mrs Thatcher’s victory was about her capacity to beat Harold Wilson in a general election and reverse the downward spiral. Ken Clarke was typically the most outspoken. ‘The counter-revolution starts here’ he said, in words which I remember clearly from those long-ago years. His worry was that the developing Conservative policies of monetarism and non-intervention (espoused most prominently by Keith Joseph whose withdrawal from the leadership contest had given Margaret Thatcher her opportunity) would be neither popular nor effective. Leon Brittan’s position was slightly different. By this time, he had progressed to the marginal seat of Cleveland and Whitby and feared that the appeal of an archetypal middle-class woman from London would not translate easily to the north east. I did not have a marginal constituency but my fears were similar. My South Nottingham seat had disappeared in redistribution so I was in search of a new seat. My worst experience was being defeated at a selection conference by the diarist Alan Clark, who had managed to see the questions in advance. Before that I had been runner-up to Michael Heseltine in Henley-on-Thames where the agent kindly told me that several members had doubts that I was rich xienough to afford Henley. A few weeks later I was selected for the super safe Tory seat of Sutton Coldfield on the outskirts of Birmingham and served there happily for the next thirty years.

         I was utterly amazed that shortly after the leadership election I received a call to go to the new leader’s office and was there appointed as the youngest member of Margaret Thatcher’s first shadow Cabinet. My job was to oppose the redoubtable Barbara Castle, the social services secretary, who headed the enormous double department covering both health and social security. She had been a leading Labour politician while I was still at school. I had no background in either health or social security and only three months as a lowly number three spokesman on the front bench. So why was I appointed?

         I suspect much of the blame must go to Keith Joseph. He had been Ted Heath’s reluctant shadow Home Secretary; well away from the economic and industrial areas that he loved. After four years of covering the Home Office I had just the knowledge and enthusiasm he needed and I came strongly recommended by him and supported by Airey Neave, the Colditz veteran and close friend of Margaret Thatcher, with whom I shared innumerable cups of coffee in the Commons tea room as he sought to persuade me to the Thatcher cause, only stopping when a whip or well-known opponent joined our table. Airey regarded them as the equivalent of prison camp guards where confidentiality had to be maintained.

         For me, shadow Cabinet was a hell of a jump and for the first part of the interview I still expected Mrs Thatcher to tell me who my boss would be. When it became clear that I was the boss, I half mumbled words along the lines of ‘I hope I can do it’ to which her reply was to the effect of ‘you should worry’: she had to master foreign affairs where she had no experience whatsoever. For the next twelve months I worked as hard as I have ever worked, trying to learn the details of everything from mental health policy to pensions and getting to know the superior beings in the British Medical Association. But it was an ability to make reasonably workmanlike speeches that held me in good stead in those early months, culminating in only one of three standing ovations at the xii1976 Conservative Party conference – the other two were for Michael Heseltine and the leader herself. I was beginning to find my feet and the commentators who were now predicting a reshuffle (a signature of the Thatcher years) did not expect me to feature. They could not have been more wrong – in politics, things are never as good (or as bad) as you think.

         Eighteen months after my appointment to the shadow Cabinet I was called to the leader’s office in the Commons. Margaret Thatcher came quickly to the point. ‘I have something difficult to ask you to do’, she said. ‘I want you to move to transport.’ I was to give my place to John Biffen, an early monetarist and follower of Enoch Powell, who ironically was to become one of her bitterest critics. She would do everything to preserve my position with the press but admitted it would be seen as a demotion. I was anything but convinced I should continue in her employment but agreed to take advice. My first interview was with the Chief Whip, Humphrey Atkins. Referring to my original appointment, he said ‘You were lucky to be appointed’ ‘and if it had been up to me you wouldn’t have been’. Managing human relations was not high on Atkins’s list of attributes.

         The news spread swiftly. Most people were surprised, including the lobby. Leon sent an immediate note and there followed a succession of encouraging messages. In the gents toilets, I met the Labour MP Dennis Skinner. He obviously regarded the move as part of some ‘plot’. He said that I had established myself in the last three or four months – ever since my party conference speech. ‘They can’t say you were no good because the party saw for themselves at the conference’. Michael Heseltine said that I was right to stay, ‘You may not be Chancellor by forty but you’re years younger than the rest of us. I don’t know why I should worry about your future’. Edward du Cann met me in the tea room. ‘Old boy, everyone gets kicked in the balls once in this game. When it happened to me I didn’t recover for two months’. He was sacked as Party Chairman by Ted Heath.

         As it happened, the transfer was the best possible thing that could have happened to me. Being the opposition spokesman on health and xiiisocial security under strict instructions not to promise an extra penny of spending and simultaneously look for every opportunity for cuts was a thankless task; rather like being defence spokesman under Jeremy Corbyn. Added to which, any new ideas, particularly in health, had the potential to provoke fierce attack and intense nerves from the shadow Cabinet and back benches alike. Once I had recovered from my disgruntlement, I slowly began to recognise my potential good fortune. In policy terms, transport was wide open. No Conservative had made any serious changes since Ernest Marples, the transport minister under Harold Macmillan. Transport was a sacred monument to public ownership and regulation stretching back to the 1940s and covering all kinds of activities. If you believed that deregulation and privatisation could benefit the public, and the companies themselves, then the opportunities were immense.

         For two years I was left to my own devices to develop policy, but with regular and productive meetings with Margaret Thatcher. I also took advantage of overseas trips to the United States and Europe to see how they ran transport. Greyhound coaches in the US were an obvious guide for our new intercity coach services and the totting-up process for traffic offences was a European import.

         With the 1979 election won the question, at least for me, was whether I, who had never even been a junior minister, would have the opportunity to put my plans into action. As she offered me the minister of transport job, Margaret Thatcher warned ‘Don’t be too quick to say yes … we only have authority to pay in full twenty-two Cabinet ministers’. As a minister in charge of a department my pay would be the same as the Chief Whip, Michael Jopling, but with a full say in Cabinet, so in 1979 I became number twenty-three in the first Thatcher Cabinet.

         And what of the other two in the trio who had discussed the future under Margaret Thatcher? Leon Brittan was recognised as a star intellect and became number two to the Home Secretary, Willie Whitelaw, who was the second most important man in the Cabinet. It required few powers of prediction to forecast that it was only a matter of time before Leon was promoted to the Cabinet. The outcome for Ken Clarke, xivhowever, was very different. He had laboured for three years as deputy to Keith Joseph at industry. The assumption was that he would be next promoted as Minister of State to Joseph in the new government; but that was not to be. The two men were not natural bedfellows, with Ken unable to repress his disagreements with his boss.

         I could scarcely believe it when Ken was one of five possible candidates offered to me as my junior minister at transport. He became my parliamentary secretary. It was not what he wanted, nor expected, and for the first weeks of our partnership relations were strained. But soon enough his good humour broke through and for the next five years we worked together in the best partnership I ever had in government. Our first campaign was to plot a revolution in transport policy and move away from the dominance of government control.

         In 1979 our concern was the position we had inherited after the winter of discontent: the high inflation, the strikes and the all-powerful unions, together with some conspicuously weak management. The need in 1979 was for fundamental reform. It was not a time for endless compromise. That was the essential battleground and it was this battle in which I thought that Margaret Thatcher deserved support. It was not so much ‘wets’ versus ‘dries’ – it was much more of a battle between the modernisers, not content to go on as before and those who thought that we should continue to manage the country as best we could, and had done so notably unsuccessfully since the end of the Second World War.

         * * *

         My diaries were mostly written in the shorthand reporters’ notebooks I used when on The Times. They are not intended as a complete history of the time. They recount my experience working closely with two Prime Ministers. They stretch from what I persist in regarding as my political salad days in the years following the 1979 election. They take in the struggles to achieve economic recovery inside the Thatcher Cabinet, the fall of Thatcher herself and then the election of John Major – who was almost immediately undermined by his predecessor. This is not the xvwell-scrubbed and edited view from No. 10. It is the view of a Cabinet minister who ran three, more accurately four, government departments in that period and later became Party Chairman while most of the party was in revolt over Europe. It is a story of a period that opened so hopefully, saw undoubted success, but was brought to an inglorious end by internal and open dispute – encouraged by the actions of the former leader who had relied on party loyalty to remain in power for over a decade.

         I had, to all intents and purposes, given up diary writing after my change from social services to transport in 1976. In retrospect that was a vast pity, because it missed out the most important step of my life – my marriage to Fiona in 1979. My wife tells me to leave it at that – so I will only add that I could not have managed without her love, encouragement and friendship. xvi
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            THE THATCHER SUPREMACY2

         

      

   


   
      
         
3
            1

            A CABINET DIVIDED

         

         JANUARY 1980–JANUARY 1981

         Margaret Thatcher’s first Cabinet was anything but a united team with several Cabinet members like Jim Prior, Francis Pym and Norman St John-Stevas opposed to the scale of the Treasury’s proposed spending cuts. There were others who suspended judgement but were careful not to be too closely identified with the Chancellor’s policy. As for myself, I was free to implement the policies I had set out in opposition. I entered a world of nationalised industry. We had nationalised road haulage under the banner of the National Freight Corporation (NFC) to move our goods and deliver our parcels. There was even a nationalised removals company, Pickfords, ready to move our furniture. Bus and coach transport was dominated by the nationalised National Bus Company and surrounded by regulation. Any private-sector company brave enough to propose a new, cheap coach service from, say, Birmingham to London, had to apply to quasi-judicial traffic commissioners. They would invariably be opposed by the nationalised British Rail on the grounds that as they already ran such a service, there was no need for another. British Rail itself had a series of subsidiary companies, which were scarcely profitable and woefully underinvested. Their hotels were an outstanding example. The most famous hotel of all, Gleneagles, was at the time only open for six months a year. To complete the list of public ownership, there was the anonymous sleeping giant, the British Transport Docks Board, which owned ports like Southampton, Cardiff and Hull. The result of our work was three transport bills in three years; including the first privatisations under the Thatcher government. 4

         SUNDAY 13 JANUARY 1980

         I am back after a week in the USA. The American way of life is one I admire and enjoy. The enthusiasm of the nation compares starkly with our own lethargy. Margaret Thatcher’s visit there went down extremely well. If she was available, the Republicans would take her as their presidential candidate. As it is they are left with a choice between the uninspiring, like Baker and Bush; the alarming, like Reagan; or the appalling, like Connally. At this stage, Carter will win but that could change if something happens in Iran or Afghanistan. Feelings run high on both these subjects.1

         MONDAY 14 JANUARY

         Back to the department. Car at 8.30 and the normal grind of a day which ends after two Scottish votes at 1 a.m. In between I get the traces of transport back. Problems ahead include Horace Cutler’s plans to build a vastly expensive Jubilee line extension – which we will stop.2

         Even the Americans cannot afford these kind of expensive prestige projects anymore.

         TUESDAY 15 JANUARY

         The transport bill is in committee.3 We are on our fifth session and we have reached clause 2. Goodness knows there’s enough in the bill to debate: the denationalisation of the National Freight Corporation and the first reform of the traffic commissioners for fifty years. But the opp osition choose to debate silly points like whether we should sit on Tuesday and Thursday as every committee has done since the year dot.

         WEDNESDAY 23 JANUARY

         My first appearance before the Transport Select Committee.4 I arrive a 5few minutes early to find a great crowd waiting in the corridor. The doors then open and we are all ushered in. Questioning goes on for two hours. We talk about everything from my position in Cabinet to energy policy. Sydney Chapman, my genial and loyal parliamentary private secretary, thinks it was ‘a great triumph’. I thought it went well but was intrigued by the reaction of one Tory member of the committee afterwards. ‘Fine’, he said, ‘we will have to sharpen up’. The select committee could be a remarkable new weapon against government with members putting their first loyalty to it rather than their party. The whips won’t like this development and nor will ministers. 

         THURSDAY 31 JANUARY

         Cabinet. There is a second-reading debate on public spending with the usual people arguing against more cuts: Jim Prior, Norman St John-Stevas, Ian Gilmour, Peter Carrington; a formidable group. The argument is that we are basically creating two nations because by going for social security and health we are hitting the poor. I argue that if we want to cut public expenditure – and it is what the Cabinet say they want – then we have to cut social security as that is the budget which has grown the most – £14 billion to £20 billion from 1974 to 1980. Norman St John-Stevas protests that only ‘some’ of the party want more cuts. John Biffen intervenes to say that if he wants to help the poor then we should stop aid to the arts (like Covent Garden opera), most of which went to the rich. Norman says that this is a thoroughly trivial argument and then sits fuming saying ‘disgraceful’, ‘despicable’ while even Nick Edwards shouts ‘cheap’. Margaret restores order and finally we go to the specifics. Keith Joseph suggests that the Christmas bonus should go (a £10 bonus to all pensioners). I eagerly support. It was the first proposal I had ever made at Cabinet and Margaret had jumped down my throat. This time, Margaret is more responsive but won’t accept. It was an election pledge. Had we taken a vote the Christmas bonus would have gone but Cabinets don’t vote. In the last analysis the PM decides. She decided against. So we don’t help the children. We help the middle class by giving them £10 for Christmas. Next in the firing line is Michael Heseltine. He has 6prepared an elaborate defence of his housing programme and suggests cutting mortgage tax relief. He is immediately told by Margaret that as long as she is PM that would not happen. After various other diversionary tactics he is roundly told by Margaret that she spends longer listening to him than any other minister. She believes that the housing programme should be cut – and cut it will be. By this time we are all pretty exhausted. It has lasted from 10 a.m. until well after 1 p.m. It had not been that bad but the tensions are obvious enough. There are a number of ministers who plainly don’t believe in what we are doing on public spending. There are others who have doubts but keep their own counsel. This leaves Margaret Thatcher pretty isolated. No real problems yet – but if the going gets really rough…

         SATURDAY 2 FEBRUARY

         I am forty-two today. Fiona and I have a great row on my attitude to abortion. My view up to now has been to accept the views of my Roman Catholic constituents, not with any great enthusiasm but recognising the strength of their feeling. To be honest I have not given the issue a great deal of thought. It is not an issue which has touched me. Fiona says that it only really touches women in any event. It is not the greatest birthday but F’s onslaught at least means I will make up my own mind and not simply jog along with the mass view. What is the mass view in any event? Most of the people who come to see me don’t want abortions at all. It is not an argument on degree as far as they are concerned.

         THURSDAY 7 FEBRUARY

         The first Cabinet for a very long time where no one raises public expenditure. We talk instead about parliamentary allowances and the latest report from the Top Salaries Review Board. The report will probably go through untouched, but everyone is concerned that there are quite a number of MPs ‘fiddling’ their expenses. The favourite allegation (among Conservative MPs) was that four MPs (Labour) would share a car to drive north and then each claim the mileage allowance. Another charge (bipartisan) was that one or two MPs from far-flung constituencies 7claimed so much in mileage allowance that they must be in perpetual motion. While the charge from Labour was that too many Tories had outside interests, some undeclared. It is the kind of anecdotal discussion that politicians love and we meander happily on.

         From Cabinet to the Transport Bill Committee. We are still going slow. We take them through the night. I slip away at 3 a.m. and come back reasonably fresh at 8.00. Still no real progress, so we decide to move a motion to sit on Friday afternoon and go on to midnight. Albert Booth almost blows a gasket at the prospect of a Friday night sitting and becomes almost speechless. He makes quite possibly the shortest speech he has ever made and sits down. Prescott is much better and a deal is done.5 I withdraw the sittings motion and everyone retires more or less happy, but very tired. No one but a lunatic likes all-night sittings.6

         WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY

         An early morning meeting with Keith Joseph on nationalised industry policy. Not a happy meeting. I find Keith a very difficult chairman. He has tramlines that he keeps to and if you are not on the same ones he clearly believes you are very eccentric if not rather stupid. I seek him out later to explain our ‘great achievement’; that we were preparing to privatise the subsidiary companies of British Rail. ‘But surely that’s small beer?’ he says. ‘No’, I reply, ‘it would be one of the top 100 companies in Britain’. ‘Is that so?’ Keith is surprised.7 Keith then moves onto another part of British Rail. ‘But look hasn’t Peter Hall8 got something in what he says. I get the impression you don’t take him seriously.’ Hall believes that we should start replacing railway lines with roads. It is about the 8least attractive political plan I have ever heard and it doesn’t make economic sense either. Keith has been on about this for some years now. He obviously believes I am totally lacking in imagination on the point. He never noticed the awful row we had in November on closing rural rail lines. But there is no stopping him. He will never give up nor appreciate the political daftness of his plan. What reaction does he expect from the public, the unions, the industry in the drawn-out process of closures? Doubtless these are all rather plodding questions but he has not even considered them. I hope he runs his own show with a little more common sense. 

         SATURDAY 16 FEBRUARY

         Dinner with friends in Putney. One of the guests was Maurice Oldfield, now in Ulster.9 He was brought out of retirement to coordinate security and intelligence in Northern Ireland and now spends most of his time there. Unlike ministers he doesn’t just go over for a few days and then come back. He is obviously committed to the job and to the province. He believes that we should take some ‘symbolic’ action to help the morale of the RUC and security services – like abolish the rule of silence. I think we should do that in any event so find no difficulty in agreeing. Alec Guinness apparently modelled ‘Smiley’ on Oldfield before doing Tinker, Tailor, Soldier, Spy – even down to the thick rimmed glasses. What a life he leads. Everywhere he goes, he goes with two guards and presumably will for evermore.

         MONDAY 18 FEBRUARY

         Lunch with Peter Parker.10 My officials are concerned that I am not getting on with him well enough. I was surprised to hear this view and both Ken Clarke and Genie Flanagan11 think it’s rubbish. Nevertheless, Peter needs a little courting from time to time. He’s something of an industrial 9prima donna but he’s also the best chairman that BR have had in years. I like him and he’s much better without an audience. Just the two of us, no playing to the gallery; an enjoyable and constructive lunch. Parker is an enthusiast. Thank God for enthusiasts. There are enough people telling you that ‘it can never be done’.

         THURSDAY 28 FEBRUARY

         In the afternoon there is an opposition censure debate. Jim Callaghan is quite good and Margaret not so good. There is a marvellous moment when Margaret quotes from Barbara Castle’s diaries about the weakness of ‘our Jim’ meaning Callaghan – which the opposition hilariously take to mean Jim Prior.

         WEDNESDAY 12 MARCH

         A thirty-minute meeting with Margaret at No. 10. It is the first time we have been alone since the election. We take tea upstairs with a private secretary sitting in. So not quite as in opposition when no one sat in. For thirty minutes I tell her what we are doing. It is evident that she has taken in a great deal, like the privatisation policies. The important point comes at the end. I ask her about the Channel Tunnel, which I want but which I feared she would be against. Not a bit of it. As long as there’s no public money she thinks it would be a first-class plan. I bear the good news back to Marsham Street, which helps us considerably with our promised statement next week.

         TUESDAY 17 MARCH

         A big majority in the House for boycotting the Moscow Olympic games 315 to 147 but frankly I doubt if it will have any effect. The athletes will do their own thing and go.12 They don’t give a damn about the invasion 10by one country of another. As Michael Heseltine says, there are nasty echoes of the Nazi Olympics in Berlin in 1936. 

         WEDNESDAY 18 MARCH

         Transport Questions and I announce our decision on the Channel Tunnel – that there is no public money, but if there was a viable privately financed scheme we would support it. In the main this is supported by the House. The railway MPs are glad to hear that at least the tunnel idea has not been rejected. Albert Booth says why don’t we put public money into it – which was precisely the option rejected by the last Labour government. Media reaction is good. The Tunnel is still a long way off – late 1980s at the earliest – even if we get the right scheme. Then what will the French say? I would love to see the plan succeed but after all the false starts over the last 150 years there must be doubts about whether we will pull it off. Nevertheless the Tunnel is back on the agenda.

         
             

         

         In November 1979 the Chinese rail minister Guo Weicheng (a veteran of the Great March) came to the UK as a guest of the British government. Our point of personal contact was football. We had both been goalkeepers in our youth and for him the undoubted highlight of his trip was watching an Arsenal match. In April 1980 I led a return railway industry delegation to China. It was only forty years ago, but the contrast between China today and China then speaks volumes for the speed of Chinese development. 

         TUESDAY 8 APRIL

         Up at 7 a.m. for an early breakfast at the Peking Hotel. Fiona and I have been given a vast suite of three rooms and a bathroom.13 At first, the view is obscured by fog but it soon lifts to a sunny spring day. From our room you look down onto a wide avenue. There are three lanes each way but two in both directions are taken up by bicycles. It is said there are 2.5 11million cycles in Peking. I believe it. We leave in our black limousine, which sweeps to one side everything in front. We pass by the television tower which was built by the Russians in the 1950s and is pointed out to us as a particularly bad piece of architecture. At the Ministry of Railways we have talks with the minister which are notably friendly. We know there is no prospect of instant business but he is encouraging on the prospects of the various companies that are with me. In the evening, a ‘banquet’ at the hotel. Very formal. Speeches between courses and translated paragraph by paragraph. The usual struggle to master our chopsticks. 

         WEDNESDAY 9 APRIL

         The weather has deteriorated. It is now grey, overcast and with a cold wind. We make another early start and travel north to the Great Wall. The rush hour is at its peak. We pass lorries, trucks, tractors, buses, jeeps, three wheelers. The predominant colour is khaki, giving the impression of a city under military rule. All the vehicles seem to come from the 1950s. The lorries are snub nosed and basic and have soldiers and workers packed into the back. The buses are utilitarian and are all full to overflowing. The road itself is narrow, just a single lane, and our driver obviously believes that we have priority over everything.

         THURSDAY 10 APRIL

         Railways all day. First a visit to the main Peking marshalling yard which deals with, it is claimed, 400,000 tons of goods a day. This is probably an exaggeration. Nevertheless, the long lines of wagons full of coal, timber and assorted freight show just how much does go by rail. There is also no doubt that Dowty’s retarders would be a considerable improvement on the outdated models they have.14 It is unromantic but it is the kind of export we should be able to sell. Next, onto a locomotive works employing over 6,000 workers. The workers applaud us as we go past and there are chalk notices saying: ‘Welcome our British Colleagues’. 12It is impressive just how many women engineers there are – completely different to the British Rail works at Derby. I ask one of the women who has worked here for twenty years about her life. ‘How do you like it?’ She is not used to the glad-handing ways of British politicians. ‘It is for the good of the party’, she replies. 

         Our visit to Peking ends with a dinner at the embassy. Percy Craddock (who I think is very good and much better for us than ‘Nicko’ Henderson, our ambassador in Washington), presides over a reasonably typical English-style dinner: soup, fish, chicken, pudding. ‘No concessions to the Chinese’ says Craddock.15 It is an enjoyable end to a successful trip. We have taken relations forward and the Chinese are, in their words, moving ‘step by step’ towards some contracts. The minister even says that he is interested in the Advanced Passenger Train – but not just yet.16

         FRIDAY 11 APRIL

         Back to the border by train. Another banquet has been prepared for us. A slight groan from the officials who have been eating one banquet after another. Two memories remain with me. The first was on the lake of the Summer Palace. One of our women guides bursts into song. She had an exceptional voice. It was explained to us that she had been an opera singer, but during the Cultural Revolution she had been forced out of the city to work in the fields. The second came right at the end of the trip. One of the industry party came up to say that he had just seen a perfect copy of the patented device he was trying to sell.

         SATURDAY 19 APRIL

         13Back in Britain and a wedding near Oxford. A real Poole family occasion. Oliver (Jr) was a page boy in yellow breeches and a white shirt. Oliver (Sr) arrived in a wheelchair pushed by his wife – a patch over one eye. A rather sad figure.17

         SATURDAY 24 MAY

         We have now been in power twelve months. What are the pluses – what are the minuses? The big plus is the way Margaret has developed as PM. She has imposed her authority and backed her judgement. We have cut public spending and we will cut the civil service. Ministers like Geoffrey Howe, John Nott and Peter Carrington have asserted themselves and no longer is there the jibe that we have no men of ability on our front bench. All told, things have gone much more smoothly than we might have expected. The big minus is inflation. It has bounded up to over 20 per cent and pay demands show no sign of slowing down. Added to this, we are self-evidently entering a recession. The real battles and tensions are still to come. As a government we are still too strident. The public want action but the action needs to be justified in words that seek to unite the nation, not divide it. Jim Prior and the others are winning on that. We haven’t found the language or the style.

         MONDAY 2 JUNE

         Cabinet on the EEC Budget settlement.18 Most people think that Margaret Thatcher has done wonders. There is no doubt that we would not have got anything like it without her determination. In conventional terms it is a triumph. But it is clear that is not the way she sees it at all. She says little and has obviously accepted that it is all that she will 14get. Peter Carrington and others talk of the achievement. John Nott and John Biffen accept but point out that nothing is altered; nothing is changed. The common agricultural policy marches on. The next time we fight it will be worse and nearer an election. There is also the unspoken belief (fear) that Labour will play the anti-Common Market card when the election comes.19 Nevertheless, the deal goes through. The only memorable feature being Margaret’s total lack of enthusiasm. 

         FRIDAY 6 JUNE

         To Lucas in Birmingham to see the electric van, car and cycle. I gather we are ahead in development at the moment – but for how long? The potential is exciting but I fear the Americans, Japanese or Germans will get there first.

         TUESDAY 10 JUNE

         To Bournemouth for the Institute of Mechanical Engineers. I lecture them on the need for economy. The paper after mine literally starts with the sentiment that ‘efficiency and competition has little relevance in the world of local government.’

         TUESDAY 8 JULY

         An important week for my second transport bill. The first battle is on drink driving: the accident toll is indefensible by any measure. I put the case before H committee.20 I simply do not see why preventing drunken drivers killing themselves and anyone else who happens to get in the way should be seen as a question of civil liberties or ‘a threat to the social life of the countryside’. I have given up the prospect of random tests to get 15the rest of the proposals through, although personally I would go for them. What the proposals amount to are the introduction of breathalysers, the elimination of procedural and technical defences, new action against the hit and run drivers and a reformed ‘totting-up’ system.21 I am notably supported by Norman St John-Stevas but opposed by Christopher Soames and Michael Jopling. Michael reports that the Agricultural Committee was ‘concerned’. Soames just doesn’t like the idea. His argument is basically that ‘you can’t tell when someone is unfit to drive. Some can drive on a lot of drink.’ Real saloon bar stuff. Willie Whitelaw is in the chair and agrees the proposals. We have the first drink drive legislation since 1968 and there is no reason why it can’t be toughened up on its way through Parliament. 

         The point not mentioned is seat belts. If road safety is included in the bill what is to prevent an amendment on making the wearing of seat belts compulsory? The answer is nothing. An amendment all depends on the scope of the bill – compulsory seat belts obviously come under road safety. Personally, I would welcome this. I think the question should be settled once and for all. I am also at a loss to suggest any alternative. Going the American way and requiring manufacturers to put in automatic restraints is not possible. I would need all the EEC countries to agree! I have asked the lawyers to check and double check but they say that is the position. So the choice is, do nothing or act. Persuasion only works to a limited extent. I will, of course, be attacked for changing my mind but better that than make the wrong decision. We all know there is a majority both in the Commons and the Lords for compulsory seat belts. It is a scandal that they are being prevented from making a decision. My main aim is to get a bill so that the House can then decide: that I will fight for.

         My plan to privatise British Rail subsidiaries (the hotels, the docks, Sealink) is before a different committee and much easier. The chairman is Keith Joseph. He congratulates me on taking the plans forward but 16thinks there should be a statement in the House. I am not so sure. Why provoke a row prior to the bill? We leave it open. 

         MONDAY 14 JULY

         Word comes through from the PM that she would like me to make a statement on privatising British Rail’s hotels, Sealink and the rest. In her view, this is good news for the party and has the advantage of coming before yet another debate on unemployment. I duly appear at 3.30 p.m. The opposition is furious. There is a great deal about robbing the ‘seed corn’ although neither Sealink nor British Rail’s hotels can conceivably be described as goldmines. Stephen Ross for the Liberals obviously thinks I have applied untold pressure to Peter Parker, and Donald Stewart for the SNP compares me to Dick Turpin. I enjoy the afternoon more as they continue.

         THURSDAY 17 JULY

         Cabinet. The opposition has chosen to debate the public sector next week. They are fielding Peter Shore and David Owen.22 The PM chooses David Howell on our side but then who? John Nott declines. Then Jim Prior suggests me as having done well on Monday. The PM asks my view. I say ‘fine’. She is so surprised to have someone who assents that she immediately agrees.23 ‘If they have an odd team’ Margaret adds to laughter, ‘so can we’. Angus Maude comes up to me afterwards and says he doesn’t know why I ‘volunteered’. He spoke at the wind-up on Monday. The noise was so great that not only could no one hear him, he couldn’t hear himself.

         MONDAY 21 JULY

         The debate on the public sector opens amiably with reasonably effective speeches from David Owen and David Howell. No emotions stirred and 17the debate goes pleasantly on. Peter Shore starts his wind-up at 9 p.m. It is a good speech. I get up just after 9.30. I first announce our plans for the privatisation of the docks. Great protests from the Labour side: ‘It should have been done in a statement etc’. Little do they know it would have been done otherwise in a written answer. I survive their protests and the House listens almost to the end. Then, at 9.57 Jim Callaghan gets to his feet and tries to intervene. No minister in his right mind gives way at this stage so I don’t.24 Great uproar. Callaghan tries to get in again. He seems to be asking (although I can scarcely hear in the noise) about the steel position in South Wales. More uproar as I refuse to give way. The Speaker intervenes. Callaghan comes back yet again. Again, I refuse to give way and end the debate by asking for the support of the House. Our side is delighted that I did not give way. Keith Joseph did two or three weeks ago just before 10 p.m. and was devastated. Clinton Davis25 comes up from the Labour side to protest at my ‘cowardice’ in the most pompous way. I fear after listening to him twice I threaten to biff him. He looks surprised and goes away. Callaghan must be under very great pressure to want to interrupt me. I am, after all, only number twenty-three in the government. He is Leader of the Opposition – but for how much longer? 

         TUESDAY 22 JULY

         The Financial Times interprets Callaghan’s attempt to intervene as meaning I had stung him by a remark about the leadership and his possible retirement. An incredible number of colleagues have come up to say how good it was that I didn’t give way. I have obviously had more impact with two minutes of inaudible toing and froing than with quite a number of my entirely audible speeches. 18

         THURSDAY 31 JULY

         A Cabinet which shows all the strains of the coalition between the radicals and the gradualists. What becomes very clear is just how on edge Jim Prior now is. Margaret Thatcher makes a remark about the importance of ‘sound money’. Jim replies, ‘I don’t give a damn for sound money.’ He is more concerned about the unemployment figures. Margaret replies that anyone who feels he cannot support the government’s economic policy should let her know. Silence from Jim and embarrassed silence all round. It’s the last week in July but we all know it goes much deeper. It would be dangerous for the government to see Jim on the back benches. Nevertheless, the kind of economic policy he wants (expansionist, interventionist) he will certainly never get with Margaret. Relations are also pretty tense between the PM and Norman St John-Stevas. Margaret scarcely listens to his advice and Norman makes it worse by making his case in a rather petulant way.

         TUESDAY 7 OCTOBER

         To Brighton for the party conference. I am speaking today and I have one piece of luck. Today is the day that the 1980 Transport Act comes into operation. In spite of all the reservations that the bus industry had they have jumped into coach competition. Fares have come down and coach services have increased. I am on just after Norman St John-Stevas who wins a standing ovation. You forget how good Norman can be.

         WEDNESDAY 8 OCTOBER

         Transport gets a very full press. I am announcing policy and few of the other speakers have done that. The sketch writers are kind. Michael White in The Guardian says that I tried to get a libertarian theme out of transport and failed. ‘You try’, he says.26 Quite so! Dinner with Will Camp of British Rail public relations. He does his job very well. He runs rings around our lot but he is not someone I warm to. There is 19something forever conspiratorial about him. His number two, Richard Faulkner, is in my view better.27 

         SUNDAY 12 OCTOBER

         Back to Cambridge, twenty years after I was Chairman of the Conservative Association there. A very docile audience. The most hostile questions came from Patrick Jenkin’s son, Bernard.28

         MONDAY 20 OCTOBER

         Talk with Peter Parker to say I would like him to stay on as Chairman. He says he is delighted to be asked but …’ He is split. On one side he wants to finish the job. On the other, it is a job which is totally demanding. His wife Jilly doesn’t want him to continue – and that makes a big difference. I say there is no rush. If he wants three years rather than five that would be fine. We will talk again later.

         THURSDAY 23 OCTOBER

         Splits in the Cabinet on view. The real tensions come when we move on to our plans to reduce the strength of the civil service. Francis Pym leads the doubters. He does not think that he can reach the savings target and he may be driven into ‘doctrinaire’ measures of privatisation. He is unhappy. Jim Prior chimes in to say that although industrialists are making a lot of noise about the public sector we should not worry so much about that but about the morale of the civil service. Anyone who confessed to being a civil servant at the party conference was hissed, he says. There is an element of truth in what Jim says, but only an element. He snorts when I say I am more concerned about the industrialists. It’s not a good meeting as we agree to use our best endeavours to reach a minus 630,000 total.29

         20

         THURSDAY 30 OCTOBER

         The much-heralded Cabinet on public spending. Geoffrey Howe reveals that talks between Patrick Jenkin and the Treasury have resulted in agreement between them that benefits should be uprated by 3 per cent less than inflation.30 Previous Cabinets, he says, have run away from decisions on the grounds that we have ‘reached the limits of what is politically possible’ or we must ‘postpone the decision’. If we postpone the decision, then taxes will inevitably go up. Willie supports and says the message should go out that the Cabinet is united and committed to this strategy. He doesn’t want to see newspaper stories in the next few days saying, ‘senior Cabinet ministers say this or say that.’ Margaret sums up to very much the same effect and emphasises that we must seek to get the reductions that the Chancellor is talking about. The only option will be further increases in tax and this is something that no one wants.

         I say that if the Chancellor’s policies are overturned, that would be a fundamental defeat for the whole government. Later in the division lobby Margaret comes up to me and says how very much she agrees with this last point. The PM has called an additional Cabinet meeting in the morning. This means I have to cancel a conference that I am opening in the Midlands. You might have thought that an industry organisation would appreciate that a Cabinet meeting might come before their own conference. Not a bit of it. The chairman sends a telegram to 10 Downing Street protesting to the Prime Minister.

         THURSDAY 13 NOVEMBER

         Cabinet begins with a sobering report from Humphrey Atkins on the hunger strike in the Maze prison which is now leading to demonstrations in Northern Ireland.

         WEDNESDAY 19 NOVEMBER

         Back to Cabinet for what we all fervently hope is to be the last stage of the public expenditure discussion. We begin with defence. Margaret 21announces that the agreement has now been made. Francis Pym has agreed to contribute £200 million, which is £300 million below what the Chancellor was asking for. There is no discussion. It is quite obvious that Francis has won although I am not sure that he sees it that way. Apparently, he still believes that defence should be the exception to every conceivable rule. 

         That more or less brings the public spending discussions to an end. It has not been a pleasant two weeks. Even today, it is clear that relations are strained. Keith Joseph made an entirely innocuous point and was countered by Jim Prior who had brought Keith’s election address along to Cabinet and proceeded to quote what he had said. In fact, it didn’t have a great deal of relevance to what we were talking about, but it was a clear indication of the division that is now apparent in the Cabinet room. It is ridiculous that a minister comes along to a Cabinet meeting with the election address of one of his colleagues and quotes it against him.

         SUNDAY 30 NOVEMBER

         The position is depressing. We are not remotely a united Cabinet. Some ministers, like Francis Pym, have got away with a great deal, others, like Jim Prior, clearly don’t like the ship that they are serving in but prefer nevertheless to serve in it rather than follow a course of their own on the back benches. The government crucially depends upon the force and upon the conviction of Margaret herself. She is helped considerably by Willie Whitelaw, although Willie is no one’s idea of an economics minister. Around her in Cabinet she has a number of colleagues who, to put it at its most charitable, appear to be suspending judgement. In the end of course, Margaret, and all of us, are going to be judged on performance. Inflation is coming down – and coming down dramatically. If the recession bottoms out during the course of next year, industry starts investing again and unemployment starts to come down, then things could look very different by this time next year.

         THURSDAY 3 AND FRIDAY 4 DECEMBER

         To a Transport Council meeting in Brussels. A complete waste of time. 22We are discussing the question of lorry permits – it is the only thing of any consequence we ever discuss. The Germans have a new transport minister, Volker Hauff, who both Norman Tebbit and I take an instant dislike to. Young, pushy and arrogant – but rated highly in West Germany. He simply says that he is not prepared to contemplate any increase in quotas. He refuses to budge and so too does the Italian minister – the appropriately named Signor Formica – so that is that. No permits. A wasted twenty-four hours. It is somehow symbolised when at lunch an interpreter is placed between Norman Tebbit and myself. I have never yet been to a European meeting that has produced anything worthwhile. If the Common Market were to be judged on Transport Council meetings it would be a total flop.

         THURSDAY 18 DECEMBER

         Lunch at Harold Lever’s sumptuous flat in Eaton Square31, where with Christopher Soames we discuss Philippe de Rothschild’s views on a channel bridge. Ian MacGregor is also there.32 His interest is that a bridge requires a formidable amount of steel. Rothschild’s view is that a bridge is the modern solution. People drive cars – they want that kind of mobility. There is something in what he says – though the French government don’t agree. He visualises a mini town in the middle of the Channel with a casino etc. and sees no problem in finance. A strange eccentric figure – but the wine he brought over is delicious – a couple of bottles of some rare vintage, which both Lever and Soames lust over and look at me resentfully when I venture to have a single glass.

         THURSDAY 1 JANUARY 1981

         A break in Casablanca. No bar with a piano, no Humphrey Bogart and 23no Lauren Bacall. A modern Air France hotel with a view of an oil refinery. But not to complain. Long walks along a wide stretch of sandy beach and a visit to the Mamounia in Marrakesh to see Frank and Nicole Law.33 To get there, we hire a small ancient Renault, which breaks down halfway but fortunately outside a garage. Finally, we arrive at this very upmarket hotel. The imposing doorman, who has probably never seen such a modest car making an entrance to his hotel, takes it entirely in his stride. ‘Welcome to the Mamounia, minister’, he says, swinging open the door which almost comes off its hinges. 

         MONDAY 5 JANUARY

         Back in Casablanca, the phone rings in the hotel bedroom at 8 a.m. It is Tony Mayer, head of my private office, from London. He tells me that the Cabinet Office had rung him at 11.20 last night to say that the PM would like to speak to me. The only guidance is: ‘you’ll probably know the reason’. The obvious meaning is that there is a reshuffle. But does this mean I am involved? Where to? Our guess is education – with social services a possibility. Another guess is that I am simply being promoted in the job. We don’t have long to wait. At 10 a.m. Downing Street is on the phone – not the PM but the Chief Whip, Michael Jopling. He explains that there are one or two changes being made. I am only involved to a small extent. Margaret would like me to stay with transport – but on full pay. Our conversation is very short. Michael says that he doesn’t expect it will take me long to decide to have a pay increase.

         MONDAY EVENING

         When we land still no one knows the details of the shuffle. Len34 picks us up at Gatwick and we tune into the news. The news of a reshuffle is just coming through but no details. A few minutes later, the car phone goes. Tony Mayer comes through and then the Permanent Secretary, 24Peter Baldwin, who says how delighted he is to be the first to say ‘Secretary of State’. It is of course enormously good for the department to be restored to their rightful Cabinet status. Tony then tells me the rest of the news. The big change is that Norman St John-Stevas is out. He was offered the job of Minister for the Arts but refused the demotion. I fear his execution was inevitable but I for one will miss him. He is somehow out of his age in this modern Cabinet but there is no more civilised man than Norman. The best news is that in comes Leon as Chief Secretary to the Treasury. It is a notable promotion. He will be working with his friend Geoffrey Howe. I suspect the Chancellor did not find John Biffen the toughest Chief Secretary. For Leon it is just the start. The only missing piece is Ken. He remains firmly where he is as parliamentary secretary for transport. She can’t keep him at that level for ever. Fiona and I decide to go (very late) to Leon and Diana’s wedding reception at No. 11. The whole place is buzzing with excitement. What a wedding present for Leon – richly deserved. Intellectually, he is the best of our generation. He is not a natural presenter of policy or even very much of an innovator. But give him a brief and he will come up with the best advice going. That could be his long-term problem. He is seen more as a brilliant adviser than a performer. 

         There are many old pals at the reception and we pick up Ken Clarke and John Gummer for dinner. After John and Penny have left, I say to Ken that I will go to the PM and talk about his position. It may not do any good, but it should avoid him being overlooked at the next shuffle round. Ken’s growth potential is as good as Leon’s. I think I can help in that. So this is really the end of 1980 – albeit six days into 1981.

         
            1 In the event, Ronald Reagan saw off his Republican competitors and easily defeated the incumbent, President Jimmy Carter.

            2 The Jubilee line was finally opened in 1999 and provided an invaluable London link.

            3 The bill introduced a major reform of bus licensing. it deregulated long-distance bus services and allowed authorities to deregulate local services on a trial basis. It privatised the NFC, a conglomerate of road haulage and other businesses, some similar, some not.

            4 Departmental select committees had only been set up in 1979 following the election. They had wide terms of reference, could appoint specialist advisers and were supposed to operate regardless of party allegiances.

            5 Albert Booth, Labour MP for Barrow-in-Furness, was Labour’s chief transport spokesman. Absolutely straight. Labour’s number two transport spokesman, John Prescott, became an MP in 1970, and for a time we uneasily shared a room – Prescott, myself, Ken Clarke and Cyril Smith. In 1983 he joined the shadow Cabinet and later became Deputy Leader of the Labour Party. A powerful voice in the Labour Party.

            6 Frankly the threat of a Friday night sitting was a bluff. We could not have carried out our threat. I cannot remember a Friday evening meeting of a Commons’ bill committee. MPs would have wanted to be in their constituencies; the Hansard writers would not have reported the debates; and the Commons staff would probably have gone on strike.

            7 I might have over-egged the claim – but not by much!

            8 Transport economist and town planner.

            9 Director of MI6 1973–1978

            10 Chairman of British Rail 1976–1983. A frustrated politician who should have been appointed to the House of Lords.

            11 Civil servant and very able head of my private office.

            12 The Olympics were due to be held in Moscow in July 1980 but in December 1979 Russian troops invaded Afghanistan. There were widespread calls for the Games to be moved or boycotted. Most of the UK athletes did go but some, like the sailors and horse riders, did not. They were doubly punished when it came to the Olympic Games in London in 2012 when they were refused permission to parade with the Olympic athletes who had ignored the immorality of the Russian invasion.

            13 The Chinese invited me as transport minister and Fiona, who had helped me entertain the Chinese minister when in London. The department would not pay for her to travel to Hong Kong. They did, however, find enough money to enable three officials to travel there first class while I paid for Fiona to go by a cheaper airline.

            14 A retarder slows down the speed of wagons being shunted. Without them, the life expectation of wagons is substantially reduced as they crash into each other.

            15 Sir Percy Craddock was our ambassador to China from 1978 to 1983. He played a major role in the Sino-British Joint Declaration in 1984 and became a foreign policy adviser to Thatcher, and briefly to John Major. After he retired, he became one of the most prominent critics of the Hong Kong Governor, Chris Patten.

            16 Just as well. The APT never came into service. It broke down during a demonstration for my benefit. It remains a commentary on British Rail that they were unable to establish any major position in the overseas market and now we buy from overseas when once, prior to nationalisation, we were one of the major suppliers in the world.

            17 Oliver is my stepson. His grandfather, also Oliver Poole, was Party Chairman for Harold Macmillan together with Quintin Hogg (later Lord Hailsham). Hogg rang the bell and rallied the troops. Oliver ensured that the organisation was up to scratch. There was no doubt that on the organisational level the Conservatives massively out-boxed Labour. It is one of my great regrets that because of his disabling stroke we were never able to compare notes.

            18 The government had been negotiating the size of the UK’s contribution to the European Community Budget since it took office. Britain’s net contribution had risen from £150 million in 1976 to £1,100 million in 1980.

            19 Labour did campaign on coming out of the EEC in the 1983 general election but the pledge was mixed up with so many others in the manifesto (‘the longest political suicide note in history’) that it failed to have any impact.

            20 Many government decisions are delegated to Cabinet committees. The committees are usually referred to by a letter, e.g. E committee oversees economic affairs or H committee on home affairs. It is impractical for every decision to go to full Cabinet but the downside is that Cabinet ministers not on the relevant committee can find themselves excluded from some of the most important decisions. The theory is that any Cabinet minister who disagreed with a committee’s decision or simply wanted all ministers to be involved could take it to full Cabinet – but this was undermined later in the Westland dispute.

            21 The proposals were based on the Blennerhassett report, Drinking and Driving – Department of the Environment report, HMSO 1976.

            22 Peter Shore was a former member of Harold Wilson’s Cabinet and very anti the European Community. Owen became one of the youngest foreign secretaries under Callaghan. He left the party in 1981 to form the Social Democratic Party (SDP) and led it from 1983 to 1987.

            23 Excuses by ministers and shadow ministers to avoid speaking in debates of this kind were legion: ‘Not quite ready’, ‘unbreakable commitment that day’.

            24 If the minister fails to move the closure motion at 10 p.m. the opposition can continue debating. To do this he has to be on his feet. If he allows the opposition speaker to take over and it goes past 10 p.m. then no closure can be moved for at least an hour. This is much to the chagrin of government supporters who have to hang around until the vote is finally called.

            25 Stanley Clinton Davis, Labour MP and European Commissioner. Went to the Lords in 1990 and later became quite a friend – as so many of my former political opponents did.

            26 Michael White was my favourite sketch writer in a strong field.

            27 Now a Labour member of the House of Lords and a deputy Lord Speaker.

            28 Bernard Jenkin later became a MP himself and was a nuisance to ministers from then on.

            29 In December 2022, the size of the civil service was 483,450 (ONS March 2023).

            30 Inflation then was 15.4 per cent.

            31 Harold Lever was elected as a Labour MP in 1945 and served in the Cabinets of Harold Wilson and James Callaghan chiefly as an economic adviser to the Prime Minister. In 1979 he went to the House of Lords.

            32 Ian MacGregor, a Scottish-American metallurgist and industrialist, was appointed Chairman of the British Steel Corporation by Keith Joseph in 1980. In 1983, he moved to head the National Coal Board and was there for the 1984–85 miners’ strike.

            33 Frank Law had become a very great friend. He had been sent by the NFC board to persuade me to cancel the privatisation but was entirely converted to it.

            34 Len Wenham, my long-serving and loyal driver.
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            A ‘NO HOPE’ BUDGET

         

         JANUARY–SEPTEMBER 1981

         By this stage the government was running into serious difficulties. Unemployment was over two million and looked likely to go over three million. The winter of discontent may have been behind us but strikes still scarred the economy. Nationalised industries like steel and coal needed ever more subsidy with the miners delivering a devastating blow to the government in February 1981. Politically, the government was in deep trouble, with some Tory MPs already in a state of unrest. It made a singularly unpromising background for the Chancellor, Geoffrey Howe, who was due to deliver his annual Budget to the Commons in March. For Conservatives, reducing taxes was an article of faith. On present policies there was certainly no prospect of that. This was the prelude to the most important Budget of the early Thatcher years. 

         THURSDAY 8 JANUARY 1981

         The first Cabinet I have attended as a fully paid-up member. Christopher Soames says that at last she has made ‘an honest man’ of me. In the afternoon we travel to Windsor to receive the seals of office. There is a slight delay before going in for Norman St John-Stevas to surrender his seals. The Palace is extremely good at organising these things and there is absolutely no question that Norman would be left talking uncomfortably to us outside. He is dealt with first and quite separately, and it is only when that was done that we move on to the more cheerful occasion of new arrivals. When I was first made a member of the Privy Council back in May 1979, it was the first time that I had come anywhere near 26the Queen. I found the whole process nerve-wracking, as Leon obviously does today. This time it is easier. You go forward, kneel on the first kneeling stool with a testament in your right hand, read the oath and then move forward to the second stool. You kiss hands with the Queen, stand up, receive the box with the seals of office in it and retreat to the waiting line of privy counsellors without turning your back on the Queen herself. Upon examination, the seals themselves prove to be exactly that and doubtless with a plentiful supply of melted red wax would come up very well.

         TUESDAY 13 JANUARY

         The second reading of my new transport bill. The speech goes remarkably well. There is quite a full house. Enoch Powell is there and so too are some of the brightest of the various nationalised industry supporters. However, I am allowed to go through the introduction of private capital into British Rail and the denationalisation of the docks without any interruption whatsoever. The interest is in road safety. A whole range of speeches from both sides of the House suggest that random tests for drink should be introduced, and also that seat belts should be made compulsory. The most effective Labour speech comes from John Prescott in his wind-up but he speaks so fast that no one really has the opportunity to fully take in the points that he is making.

         THURSDAY 15 JANUARY

         A longish Cabinet. The most important question is the Scott report on inflation-proof pensions in the public sector.35 From our point of view it is disappointing. The public sector unions will jump on the fact that provision of inflation-proof pensions is better in France and Germany than it is in the United Kingdom. We remit to Geoffrey the task of thinking of some response. Outside Cabinet, someone says that Bernard Scott has earned for himself a long retirement from public life without the benefit of an inflation-proof pension. 27

         THURSDAY 22 JANUARY

         I have a twenty-minute meeting with Margaret at my request. The main purpose is to say that transport is a small department and that Ken is doing the job not only of a parliamentary secretary but Minister of State as well. The implication, which I hope she would take, is that he should not be overlooked in the promotion stakes. She takes the point very quickly and asks me to make that plain to Ken. It is clear that Margaret regards transport as an area where there is much going on and the news is often good. She also regards it as a department which does not forever bring its problems to Cabinet. I suppose if I was Prime Minister that is the way I would want a department to run. I thank her for my new position in Cabinet. She cuts me off in midstream, saying that no thanks are due at all and that she was very embarrassed by the previous position. She also says that if from time to time I would like to just come in and talk, then she would like that.

         FRIDAY 23 JANUARY

         To Sutton Coldfield to do an advice bureau. I try to get to the constituency once a week. Nothing would be worse if it was said that, now I had become a Cabinet minister, I am never seen. This was the criticism of my predecessor Geoffrey Lloyd.36 Coming back on the train, I meet Roy Hattersley who had been addressing a Fabian meeting in Coventry.37 For once, he is quite affable. He says that he does not know what is going to happen at the Labour Party conference tomorrow. Mr Hattersley is not an endearing personality. Richard Crossman once said that he was like a Dickensian villain, and like all Dickensian villains he would be unmasked in the final chapter.

         SATURDAY 24 JANUARY

         The Labour Party conference at Wembley. The result for the moderates is even worse than they can have expected. The party is now dominated by 28the trade unions. Michael Foot is in hock to the unions and the Labour Party have now allied themselves to one of the most unpopular institutions in the country.38 I do not see how men like David Owen and Bill Rodgers can continue to serve in a Labour Party of this kind. 

         MONDAY 26 JANUARY

         Today we have the British Leyland decision. By any stretch of the imagination, an important decision affecting the Midlands particularly and the production of a range of cars including Rover, Triumph and the much-vaunted Metro as well as Land Rover. Extraordinarily, the issue has not come to full Cabinet, although as Keith Joseph’s awkward statement reveals we are talking of well over £1 billion aid over the next few years. Labour support, and take delight in Keith’s obvious discomfort. The party’s reaction is more complicated. MPs with constituency interests are relieved but quite a number of others take the position of John Stokes who asks ‘are we year by year to fill the bath with the plug out?’39

         THURSDAY 29 JANUARY

         A meeting with the rail union leaders, Sid Weighell (NUR), Ray Buckton (ASLEF) and Tom Jenkins (TSSA). They are all responsible and reasonable about the prospects for the railways. It is after meetings like this that you wonder why we cannot do better in this country in getting cooperation between government and unions.40 The one symbol for the future which is agreed upon is electrification. My next task is to try to 29persuade colleagues to commit themselves to it. I have no illusions. This is going to be a tough battle. Margaret is no natural supporter of electrification – nor indeed of the railways. 

         MONDAY 16 FEBRUARY

         This week is entirely dominated by coal. The rumbles of the approaching dispute were apparent last week, but everyone is surprised by the way the crisis has suddenly developed. The scene was set in a minute I read at the weekend from David Howell. It said that the executive of the NUM had decided at their meeting on 12 February to recommend industrial action in a ballot of members if the coal board did not withdraw its plans for closures. But the minute also said the plans for closure could be negotiated at a local level and there really was no need for alarm.

         TUESDAY 17 FEBRUARY

         It is clear that the strategy on coal is not working. The unions are not only threatening strike action, but strike action is being taken. It looks as though we are in for some kind of replay of 1974.

         WEDNESDAY 18 FEBRUARY

         David Howell meets with the unions and the message comes through that they have got everything that they wanted. In other words, the pit closures are off and the government will provide the money.

         THURSDAY 19 FEBRUARY

         The press is unanimously dreadful. It is considered a surrender and the government is blamed for not knowing what was going on. The whole thing does look like the most dreadful muddle. At Cabinet, everyone takes the view that it could have been handled better but everyone, without exception, also agrees that by Tuesday Margaret had no alternative but to concede as gracefully as she could. The alternative would have been a long, drawn-out strike. Keith Joseph and I both point out that the outcome of the union action has implications way beyond coal. 30Keith is concerned about steel and says that MacGregor has already been on the phone. I am concerned about the railways where Peter Parker is trying to shed about 14,000 jobs. The comparison is painfully close to the National Coal Board who were trying to shed about 13,000. The press, of course, is now full of inquest stories. The two men reckoned to be most to blame are Derek Ezra, the chairman of the coal board, and David Howell. My view is that any minister must rely upon the chairman of his nationalised industry. Government ministers do not run the nationalised industries and that is why you have people like Ezra. To put it at its mildest, Ezra’s antennae appear to have been remarkably insensitive. Margaret talks optimistically about next time choosing our ground.41

         TUESDAY 24 FEBRUARY

         I go over to the House of Commons to listen to Prime Minister’s Questions and the steel statement by Keith Joseph.42 Margaret had a very rough ride last Thursday and looks nervous. Nevertheless, she manages perfectly well. Keith Joseph’s statement on steel is a different thing again. It is a truly agonised Joseph performance. He obviously does not like what he is doing and communicates that admirably to everyone. He is greeted with ironic cheers from the Labour side and has very little support from our side. It is an amazingly generous deal for the steel industry – £2 billion of aid – and it speaks volumes for the ability of Ian MacGregor. It is also another indicator of how Cabinet government is being conducted. At no stage has this enormous rescue programme come to full Cabinet. It has all been decided in E committee. It means effectively that anything from between one half to one quarter of the Cabinet can be excluded from some of the most major decisions that we have in front of us. 31

         TUESDAY 10 MARCH

         Cabinet meets at 10.30 a.m. to hear the Chancellor’s proposals on the Budget. It is a tense and unhappy meeting. Although most of us have had some idea of what was to be in the Budget, none of us knew its full extent. It soon becomes clear that it is going to be highly unpopular. Geoffrey introduces it in a very sober manner. He says that he is looking for a borrowing requirement of somewhere between £10.5 and £11.5 billion. However, as at the present forecast, the PSBR for next year is likely to be between £14 and £15 billion. National Insurance will raise him £1 billion and revenue from the North Sea another £1 billion. Excess profits tax upon the banks gives him a further £0.5 billion. He then comes to the area which will be most unpopular – his proposals to increase taxes. He will not implement the Rooker–Wise amendment on tax allowances;43 petrol will go up by 20p per gallon; and there will be big tax increases on drinks and cigarettes.44 He reckons that he can raise £2 billion in this way.

         The attack soon starts. Jim Prior is first in saying that he thinks that this is a disastrous Budget which will do nothing for growth and will make the employment position even worse than it is already. Keith Joseph comes next and defends the Budget, but says that there should be more help for investment. His proposal is that private investment should come into some of the public sector industries – like telecommunications. I agree with this last point. This is exactly the kind of policy I have been arguing for the last couple of months. I want to see new ways of getting private investment into our public industries. In the debate which follows, virtually every member of the Cabinet takes part. We are all limited by the fact that Geoffrey has only got a few hours before he goes into battle with his Budget speech. Whatever we say at 32this stage can make absolutely no difference to the Budget statement in the afternoon. It is a deeply unhappy meeting and when I see Geoffrey afterwards he appears taken aback. In the afternoon, Geoffrey’s speech gets an extremely hostile reception from the Labour side and a very cold one from our own side. For once, Michael Foot captures the mood of the public by calling it a ‘no hope’ Budget. 

         MONDAY 16 MARCH

         What is clear from the weekend press is just how low morale in the Conservative Party now is. There have been some quite extraordinary leaks. There was a leak in The Times on Friday which set out the position of all the Cabinet on the Budget and their reactions to it. This went into such detail that it even mentioned the two members – Humphrey Atkins and the Chief Secretary – who did not make any contribution at all. These kinds of leaks are making Cabinet totally impossible, but more than that they are having a devastating effect upon morale outside of Westminster. It is unhappy and uncertain, reading day-to-day leaks about divisions inside the Cabinet. The so-called ‘wets’ normally lose around the Cabinet table, but when it comes to the press comment it is the wets who appear in the role of heroes. Anyone who supports the government’s economic policy is regarded as an eccentric. We have either got to come together or go down to defeat.

         FRIDAY 27 MARCH

         For once, a day not dominated by politics. Fiona and I go out to dinner at a little Italian restaurant down by the river in Chelsea. I know that something is up. Even I know that. It is just over three years ago that we first went out to dinner. The restaurant is where I proposed a year later. Fiona breaks the news to me by giving me a present, a small bronze of a youth carrying a baby. We have been waiting a long time for this and were getting rather worried. We are both excited – and just a little apprehensive. Fiona loves children and will be a tremendous mother. But what about me? It is the first time. I have been broken into children by Oliver 33and that has been a great experience. My only fear is that I am a rather distant figure. I hustle off to work in the early morning and crawl back late at night. At weekends I am often away, and on Sunday I am normally trying to catch up on the boxes. But this life cannot go on forever. My resolution is to make time. Children have an unqualified right for time to be spent on them. I cannot quite get used to the idea yet.

         TUESDAY 31 MARCH

         A bad meeting with the Prime Minister on nationalised industries. She lectures everyone in sight. She lectures Keith Joseph and she treats Geoffrey Howe in a manner which can be most charitably described as patronising, and probably more accurately as contemptuous. She also has a go at me. She starts by calling me ‘dear’, which does not go down at all well. Having heard a few of her views on the transport nationalised industries, I point out that she has got it wrong. If she looks at the four nationalised industries in transport, we are denationalising two of them. We have introduced competition into another for the first time in half a century, and as for railways, which is her hate, we are denationalising the subsidiary companies and achieving more in terms of manpower reductions than at any stage for a decade. To be fair, she does not disagree and also to be fair, Keith Joseph puts up a good fight for his corner. Geoffrey, on the other hand, gives the impression that he has seen all this before and does not intend to get involved in a slanging match. There are some marvellous moments. She accuses all government ministers of not having the first idea about what is going on in their nationalised industries. She says that when she showed the accounts to Denis, he could not make head or tail of them. It is real ‘Dear Bill’ stuff. Even when there is good news she wants to find the bad news.

         THURSDAY 2 APRIL

         One of those dreadful all-night sessions. It is on the British Telecommunications bill and it drags on throughout the night and into the next morning. We have Cabinet at 10.30 on Thursday morning, huddled into 34the Prime Minister’s office in the House of Commons. We all look bleary eyed and unshaven. At least when I say ‘all’, some have managed to avoid the night’s torture. Margaret typically has led us into every division. I am not sure if I think it is the wisest course for the Prime Minister to take. Those like myself who have been up all night look enviously at those who have not.

         FRIDAY 3 APRIL

         To Liverpool to speak to Conservative industrialists. A curious hotel full of people waiting for the Grand National on the morrow. Irish voices and big men with outsize field glasses. The speech is good enough. Indeed, the chairman says that it is the best thing he has heard in years. I think that is slightly overstating it. I ask for cheese and biscuits rather than the ghastly chocolate gateau which is provided. I am certainly provided with cheese and biscuits – an enormous chunk of cheddar together with some custard creams.

         SATURDAY 4 APRIL–SUNDAY 5 APRIL

         I spend the weekend poring over the railway papers for the long-awaited meeting of E committee on electrification to be presided over by the Prime Minister. She has already made it totally clear that she wants nothing to do with it. Indeed, of all the conversations I have had with her in the last couple of weeks she has mentioned it on each occasion. She has sent in Alan Walters45 to do a demolition job on the electrification report46 and the Walters paper is in my box. The only thing Walters suggests is that we should look more carefully at the option of reducing the rail network. He says that ‘many experts’ believe that this would be a good idea. Who are these experts? Anyone with any political nous whatsoever would understand that this would be about the most disastrous policy to pursue as we are entering year three of our government. 35I really do not think that the man understands what he is suggesting. The prospect of putting this kind of policy forward in our rural constituencies where we will be clobbered in any event during the next council elections makes the blood run cold. It may well be that Mr Walters is employed for his economic judgement but you have to temper economics with common sense. All this does not bode well. The tactics for the next few days must be to fight a holding action and certainly to avoid being committed to some lunatic political proposal such as the Walters alternative. 

         TUESDAY 14 APRIL

         E committee and the railways. Margaret’s mood has changed dramatically. I have two objectives. The first is to get colleagues to confirm our attitude to the rail system itself. I point out that I have given commitments both in opposition and in government that the railway system will be substantially maintained. I also point out that if we were to change it, then the consequences would be coming through in time for the general election. My position is agreed. No one mentions the Alan Walters paper. Willie Whitelaw says that in a previous election he reckons that he lost about 5,000 votes on this issue in his constituency, and other colleagues like George Younger make the same point. Margaret shows absolutely no disposition to argue with this political judgement.

         The second objective is to get the electrification issue remitted to the CPRS47 so that they can study it and at the same time study the prospects of the commercial railway. That is the inter-city services and freight. Again, this is agreed with surprisingly little comment. After a strikingly short meeting, no more than thirty minutes, I leave with my objectives secured. It is a remarkable change in climate.

         WEDNESDAY 15 APRIL

         I must have a masochistic streak. At 4.30 in the afternoon I am arguing 36at H committee for approval for my plans to change to a points system for traffic offences like speeding.48 This would save both police time and court time. My proposal is that I should now have authority to go away and draft a transport bill for 1982. The proposals go through and my third transport bill is on the launch pad – three in three years. 

         EASTER

         The whole weekend at Grounds Cottage, our house in Sutton Coldfield. No one from the press and no one from the office rings up. It is absolutely marvellous. Oliver and I make the most enormous bonfire of old papers which Fiona and I have gone through. We sort out packing cases which have not been disturbed since 1974. We burn old carpet and other things that have been lying around in the outhouse for year after year. We play not only swing ball but football too. After two days of this open-air life I feel quite exhausted, but in a totally different way. It is good to be back in real life again. I am actually happier now than I have ever been. I hope that I am sensible enough to realise that politics, and certainly power in politics, is a transient thing. Of course I like the excitement and the ability to put ideas into practice, but I also love my wife and regard it as important that I should manage the not-always-easy relationship between stepfather and stepson. Oliver certainly seems very happy. We will soon have to tell him about the new arrival.

         THURSDAY 30 APRIL

         Cabinet. Humphrey Atkins arrives to tell us that Bobby Sands, who is on hunger strike, is likely to die at any stage. The crisis could well come over the forthcoming weekend. And his fear is that this will be the signal for the IRA to carry out a new campaign of violence. Atkins says that there are about 380 foreign journalists in Belfast waiting to see what will happen, and that the IRA will be anxious to give them something to 37write about. It sounds very ominous. The violence could well stretch onto the mainland as well as in Northern Ireland.49 

         SATURDAY 9 MAY

         I go back to Cambridge for a small dinner of old Chelmsfordians who are at Cambridge and I meet my old headmaster, Nigel Fanshawe, who must now be in his late sixties and still teaching.50 One of the undergraduates, a bright man called Simon Heffer, is very active in Conservative politics. He is concerned that even now there is a gulf between the public schools and the grammar schools. I have to admit that the Cabinet is made up of predominantly public school men. The only two who are not public school are myself and Margaret.51

         TUESDAY 2 JUNE

         We only have two ministers in transport and Ken is away in Latin America, so tomorrow I have to do the 45-minute parliamentary question session alone. I have one piece of luck and that is that British Rail come to see me and tell me that their plans for privatising three of their Scottish hotels, including Gleneagles, are now near completion. The hotel business of British Rail has suffered from lack of investment over many years. There can be no justification for a government or a nationalised industry deciding to make investment in luxury hotels its priority. I say that they should go ahead and that I will announce it tomorrow.

         WEDNESDAY 3 JUNE

         Questions go well, although forty-five minutes is a long time as a solo act. Predictably, most excitement is generated by the privatisation of Gleneagles. The British Rail man who said that I should make a low-key 38statement was extremely optimistic. There is no way that you can make a low-key statement on privatisation in the House of Commons given that across the Chamber you have people like Cryer, Skinner and all the rail unions. 

         WEDNESDAY 10 JUNE

         A meeting of EDL committee (the Cabinet committee dealing with disposals) and I tell them about the plans of the NFC management. It has been one of the most exciting turnarounds of all time. A few years ago the NFC was anything but enthusiastic about the prospect of privatisation. The first time I met my friend Frank Law, he had been sent by the board to dissuade me from my privatisation plans. Now in 1981 they have put together a deal which amounts to a management buy-out of the business, but a management takeover which is financed by their own money. Both Keith Joseph and Nigel Lawson obviously think that this is an exciting prospect. I only hope that when it comes to it the Treasury will not put too many obstacles in the way.52

         FRIDAY 12 JUNE

         Yesterday, the Lords voted for compulsory seat belts – 132 to 92. It is a foregone conclusion that the Commons will accept this. The debate is over.

         WEDNESDAY 17 JUNE

         The day begins with the long-heralded economic Cabinet. Geoffrey sets out his familiar position. His case is that inflation has come down, that we are on the right course, but that there are no obvious instant solutions available for unemployment. His central point is that on present spending plans, the government will go into the next general election with a tax burden which is higher than what was inherited in 1979. He clearly views this as neither politically nor economically tolerable. 39Geoffrey is immediately followed by Jim Prior, who sees unemployment rising to over three million later this year when the school leavers come on to the market, and that position repeats in the early autumn of 1982 and 1983. Jim basically wants some reflation and some public-investment projects. He takes the view, reasonably enough, that unemployment is the key issue. Following the two set pieces, almost every member of Cabinet takes part in the discussion that follows. It is clear that people like Francis Pym and Peter Walker are opposed to the general strategy, and people like John Nott and John Biffen are in favour. Very rarely do their arguments even touch each other. The most senior members of the Cabinet point to the political dimension. Peter Carrington, Christopher Soames and Willie Whitelaw all comment that the time to start thinking about the next general election is now. 

         In the afternoon it is back to No. 10 for railway electrification. This is the decisive meeting as far as the electrification project is concerned. George Younger told me after Cabinet this morning that Margaret is still pretty determined against it. However, when it comes to the meeting itself, the mood is not as hostile as it could have been. I start with a five-minute presentation of the case. I want electrification to be the instrument by which I can achieve the improvements in productivity that British Rail should make. There follows a brief and rather scrappy discussion. I am opposed by the Treasury. Leon argues that electrification is ‘OK’ in the future, but what he wants to see first are the improvements in productivity. I am supported in the argument by Jim Prior; not particularly effectively. He has an extremely curious argument about level crossings on his Suffolk line. No one is totally clear about the point he is trying to make but one thing is beyond doubt, that wherever else we electrify, there is no question of electrifying his Suffolk line. Margaret then sums up and slightly to my surprise, given her previous views, she says that she is prepared to consider the principle of electrification, but there is no question of us giving it unconditional support. So the meeting breaks up with agreement to electrification in principle, on the condition that the railway industry makes improvements in productivity. As far as I am concerned that is first class, and we have certainly managed 40to come back from the first meeting when electrification had been dismissed almost out of hand.

         THURSDAY 18 JUNE

         I see Margaret just before Cabinet. She is obviously extremely upset about the leaks from yesterday. No more than I am. When I woke the first headline I saw on The Times was ‘Thatcher defeated by Cabinet critics on electrification’. Given the way that she had changed her position to be helpful, it was about the worst conceivable headline that I could imagine. Happily, it was only the first edition. The second edition is considerably better thanks to a talk I had with Julian Havilland,53 who rang me at home at midnight, clearly at the behest of Harry Evans54 to try and find out what had actually happened. I told him enough to make sure that the conditionality of electrification got over. Cabinet begins with an inquest about the stories in the morning’s press. There follows one of the periodic inquests we have on press coverage when all kinds of solutions are put forward, including that Cabinet ministers should stop briefing their junior ministers on what happens in Cabinet. This is objected to by Michael Heseltine on the grounds that he had to reassure all his junior ministers this morning that I had not scooped the financial pool for electrification. My comment was that if they believed that then they would believe anything.

         MONDAY 22 JUNE

         In the morning I see Peter Parker about electrification. His reaction is very positive. He says that it gives the railways a fighting chance. From my point of view, his reaction is absolutely crucial. Later, in the House, the reaction of the Labour side is much more hostile. All the NUR-sponsored boys say that we are not going remotely far enough. On 41the other hand, the reaction on our side is almost universally favourable. People are concerned that nationalised industries are running away with resources and the idea of conditionality is one that appeals. There follows a series of radio and television interviews and at six o’clock I meet the rail unions. They all bitterly criticise the announcement but Peter Parker sticks to his guns and says that in his view, this is not a defeat for the railway industry but a declaration of faith in very difficult times. By the end of the two-hour meeting, it would be an exaggeration to say that the unions had shifted their position but their opposition was much modified at any rate. It is in a situation like this that you see Peter at his best. In his heart of hearts he does not believe in privatisation and denationalisation. He sees British Rail rather like Mitsubishi: he cannot quite understand why silly Treasury rules get in the way of him expanding into other areas. But his handling of industrial and personal relations are, I think, first class and it is for reasons like that I think we should seek to keep him. 

         SATURDAY 4–SUNDAY 5 JULY

         Extraordinary scenes in Liverpool. Buildings set on fire, petrol bombs thrown and policemen attacked. Only the use of CS gas restores some kind of order. It is concentrated in the Toxteth area, which is a classic run-down inner area. Already the debate has begun whether this is a law -and-order issue or a sign of social deprivation. The answer is both.

         THURSDAY 9 JULY

         Cabinet is dominated by the riots in Liverpool. Willie makes a comparison with what he first saw in Northern Ireland. There are, he says, a variety of reasons for what has happened. There is the feeling that nobody cares; there is the question of youth unemployment; there is the criticism of the police. He doubts (and I am sure that he is right) whether it is possible to isolate one particular reason. There follows a long and thoughtful discussion, which starts with a debate about what can be done in terms of law and order, about strengthening the law, about improving the Riot 42Act, about special courts. Clearly this is important if we are to reassure people who have lost their livelihoods in the riots, but we also have to tackle the position in the cities, which will be identified as one of the causes of the riots whether we like it or not. My suggestion is that we should have one minister to coordinate all our efforts. Having talked to him before the meeting, I use the example of Quintin Hailsham who was given just such a role in Macmillan’s government. Slightly surprisingly, I find this suggestion taken up first by Margaret and then by people like John Biffen. I imagined John would be opposed to a move of this kind but in fact he says that the situation we have marks a watershed and that what is required is political leadership. Most people appear to agree. The next stage is for a small group of ministers to meet and consider what can be done in hard practical terms. I hope that something more will result than simply a concentration upon law and order measures.

         MONDAY 13 JULY

         For the first time the Speaker gives a dinner for the Cabinet. Margaret is of course the guest of honour and she again shows her enormous stamina. She has been to Liverpool under the most strenuous and testing circumstances and yet, as most of us leave at around 11 p.m. for a vote, Margaret is still deep in conversation. Willie says she will now go back and do a few more hours’ work before she finally goes to bed for a couple of hours. It is not something that Willie obviously faces with equanimity. I agree. Like him, I need my sleep.

         THURSDAY 16 JULY

         At Cabinet, Willie Whitelaw gives an update on the riots. The night before in Brixton the police went into the area and carried out a search for petrol bombs on information they had received. He says that an inquiry will be conducted, but he doubts whether the tactics were justified. He also pays great tribute to Lord Scarman,55 who apparently went to 43Brixton, talked with everyone and according to Willie, helped defuse a very explosive situation. Margaret announces that Michael Heseltine is going to go to Liverpool to carry out what she calls a pilot scheme of coordination. Her view is that a great deal of aid already goes to Liverpool and what is needed is some coordination of it – exactly what I was arguing last week. Michael has a very difficult job to put it mildly, but at last we are being seen to respond; not just to the law and order aspect but also to the social aspect. In the afternoon, Willie opens the debate in the House on the riots. The speech is an enormous success. It is not a particularly good speech in the sense of style. Willie takes almost no interruptions, but what is impressive, and particularly impressive to the other side, is that he talks about and acknowledges the social problems that exist in the cities. He is congratulated by Hattersley, who in return also makes a good speech. The House is attentive, silent and at its best. 

         In the evening I go to Television Centre to take part in a programme with Neil Kinnock and David Owen on the Warrington by-election. The result is much better for the Social Democrats than anyone had expected. It is not good for Labour but it is a pretty disastrous result for us as well. Our vote is down to a pathetic 7 per cent.56 The SDP is a new force and above all, a force with political leaders whom the public have heard of, and in some cases like, politicians like Shirley Williams, David Owen and of course, Roy Jenkins.

         MONDAY 20 JULY

         Peter Parker comes in to see me about rail pay and I then talk privately with him about his own position. I set out a further variation on the offer that we are making. Peter’s reaction is quite extraordinary. He says words virtually to the effect – ‘thank you very much I will let you know in twenty-four hours’ – and is haring out of the door before anyone 44has the chance to move. Peter Baldwin and I talk over what has taken place. My guess is that he has made up his mind to go. Peter says that we should not be quite so sure, but I think this is just optimism on his part. I suggest a bottle of champagne on it. I bet Peter Parker will not stay. Peter bets that he will. 

         WEDNESDAY 22 JULY

         News comes through from British Rail that Peter Parker is to stay. I have lost a bottle of champagne but kept a chairman.

         THURSDAY 23 JULY

         The worst Cabinet that we have had in our period of government by a mile. There is only one good side to the discussion – as I write this on the Saturday, the details have not yet leaked; an altogether untypical stroke of luck. The Cabinet has before it a particularly gloomy paper from the Chancellor. Geoffrey’s fear is that far from reducing taxation if we go on like this, we will be increasing taxation even further in the remaining Budgets of the parliament. He says that to go down that road would be economically damaging and politically impossible. Introducing his paper, he says that if the market takes the view that our determination to control public spending is weakening, we could find ourselves increasingly exposed to a reduced exchange rate with all the pressure that means for inflation. Quite exceptionally, Humphrey Atkins starts the discussion. I have never heard Humphrey talk about economics before and he does not really talk about it this time. But what he does say has some truth to it. In Northern Ireland he says they are rather more worried about unemployment than they are about reducing taxation. Humphrey is followed by Michael Heseltine, fresh back from Liverpool, who speaks emotionally about the position he has found there. He says that there is a sense of hopelessness and that this particularly affects the young. John Nott is one of the supporters of the general economic strategy and pays some tribute to it but is then entirely scathing. He says that it is a hopeless paper, there is nothing about the PSBR or about the GDP, that there 45are no figures to make any decent decisions on. Basically, the Chancellor should come back with a different and better paper. We all make set speeches and there is no real cut and thrust of debate. I come out in favour of the broad Heseltine argument – firm action on pay but an expanding capital programme. The most impressive intervention comes from Jim Prior. He does not make the kind of economically illiterate speech that we have had from one or two colleagues. He does not regard tax increases as being a disaster and is in favour of some kind of pay freeze, plus a deal on capital investment. Willie makes a pretty emotional speech. He says that the tolerance point of society (a phrase which he uses on a number of occasions) has been reached and he therefore does not believe that economies are possible. He does not see how he can make economies in his own areas like prisons and the police.

         Margaret then sums up. She makes no concessions to any of the debate, which has obviously gone extremely badly. She says that all people are arguing for is the kind of reflation that we had in the Heath period of government and the last thing she wants to preside over is the kind of property boom that we saw then. Inflation, she says, is still one of the chief enemies of the country but then adds gratuitously that the only people who can face inflation with any kind of equanimity are those workers with industrial muscle, those on inflation-proof pensions and those with land and property. The last is directed particularly at Francis who has argued that inflation is not the issue. It really could not have been worse. It leaves the PM and the Chancellor isolated. Everyone has argued for change of one kind or another. The wisest words spoken were from Willie Whitelaw, who advised that the last week in July was not a time to make decisions. That is right, but I fear that there is no avoiding the fact that the party is probably in more disarray now than it has been at any stage since May 1979.

         TUESDAY 28 JULY

         The final stage of the current transport bill and the consideration of the amendments from the Lords. We come to the seat belt debate. My aim has been to ensure that the House has the opportunity to decide the 46issue. It has become a parliamentary scandal that the House keeps on voting for it but nothing happens. There is of course considerable irony that I, as an original opponent of compulsion, should succeed in getting the House to a decision when my predecessors, who were consistent supporters of compulsion, failed dismally. I make it clear that if the principle is carried then the government will put the law into effect. When it comes to the vote, it comes as no surprise that compulsion is carried with a majority of seventy-seven. I say that the government will bring in the regulation as soon as possible and that the new law should come into effect by the middle of next year. The seat belt saga is over.

         EVENING

         Earlier, Ian Gow57 had asked whether we could have dinner once the debate was over. He said he would fix up a table somewhere at 11.15. I was anything but clear what would be open at that hour, but in typically efficient Gow manner he managed to find the only place in town which is not only open but is serving food readily, willingly and well: The Savoy. We talk about the state of the Cabinet. Ian is particularly concerned about the party chairmanship. He makes it quite clear that he thinks that Peter Thorneycroft has come to the end of the road. Although he has done stalwart duty it would be a mistake for him to take the party through to the next election. Morale at Conservative Central Office is low and we need a new person at the helm. The difficulty is who to put in his place. I say one of the obvious choices would be Michael Heseltine, who seems to me to have the right appeal for a party chairman. Ian is obviously not convinced and he mentions two other names – Norman Tebbit and Cecil Parkinson. This is going to a different generation. The difficulty is that neither are in the Cabinet at the moment. Ian obviously thinks that there is some difficulty with Margaret on this issue. The obvious Cabinet appointment would be as Paymaster General, but Margaret characteristically does not like having people being paid for 47nominal jobs. He then turns to me and asks if I would be prepared to do the job. It is not an offer – it is a question of whether in principle I would be prepared to be considered. Nevertheless, it was a question that I was not expecting, nor did I have any adequate reply. I mumbled something to the effect that it would be a job which anybody from my generation would want to do, but that Margaret was in a better position than anyone to make a choice. 

         We then gossip about the changes which are obviously going to come. There is little doubt that they would like to get rid of Peter Walker but there is the question about whether it is better having him in the government than on the back benches. The energy department, according to Ian, is regarded as a great disaster area but equally, they do not want to get rid of David Howell who is a loyal supporter of the Prime Minister’s general economic approach. Quintin Hailsham is regarded as too old and rather too eccentric at this stage. Quintin is a genuinely great man, much greater than the vast majority of us sitting around the Cabinet table at the moment. I would be very sorry to see Quintin go: he is still capable of making some of the most telling and indeed some of the most amusing points in Cabinet. All in all, the most interesting dinner I have had in months.

         WEDNESDAY 29 JULY

         The royal wedding of Charles and Diana. Quite exceptional. Amazing weather. The beautiful princess with an extraordinarily long train, and the small page boys. Members of the royal families from all over Europe; world leaders like Trudeau and Mitterrand; the immaculate wife of the American President. But for me the most moving part of it all is the reaction of the crowds along the route. Fiona and I set off about 9 o’clock from Hurlingham Road and by the time we reach Trafalgar Square, the crowds are thick on the pavements and they cheer anything. You only have to wave to get an answering cheer. They are good humoured and enthusiastic. It is an enormous contrast to the bleak reports coming from the cities over the last few weeks. The ceremony is clearly being 48watched on television by the crowds outside the cathedral. Every crucial move between the bride and groom is followed a second or two later by the most enormous cheer from outside. It is a great occasion. After the wedding, we walk to the Bank of England where Margaret Thatcher is giving lunch for the assembled heads of state. We drink champagne in the courtyard and then go to our tables. On mine, I have Mrs Gandhi’s son, Rajiv,58 and the Lord Chief Justice, Lord Lane who is notably good news. A quite outstanding day and I suspect a much needed fillip for the whole nation.

         WEDNESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER

         Whitehall is now humming with rumours of a reshuffle. Downing Street appear to be doing nothing to deny them and so I assume that the shuffle will come, probably next week.

         SATURDAY 12 SEPTEMBER

         I am doing my advice bureau in Sutton Coldfield when Fiona takes a phone call from Adam Raphael.59 Basically, his message is that Jim Prior is going to dig in and won’t be making his much-predicted move to Northern Ireland.60 Adam tells Fiona that that leaves me in line to go to Northern Ireland. I’m not sure that I totally believe this last part of the story – nor what my reaction to it is. In some ways Northern Ireland would be the most fascinating job in government. It spreads over all the departments and would be tremendous experience from that point of view. Against that there are the obvious security difficulties. What would worry me most would be the need for a guard for Fiona, Oliver and the new baby. Nevertheless, both Fiona and I agree that if an offer is made then I would accept, even given the difficulties. The major lesson we learn from Adam’s telephone call is that probably the best place to be for the rest of the weekend is London. 49

         SUNDAY 13 SEPTEMBER

         I work on my boxes during the day without interruption. My guess had been that No. 10 would set up the reshuffle interviews during Sunday but the phone is entirely silent. It is not until 8 o’clock in the evening that I understand why. While I am upstairs, Fiona answers a ring on the bell. It is Stephen Sherbourne,61 who used to work for Ted Heath and lives just down the road. He has been asked to come round and knock on my door by Tony Mayer who knows that I am in London. Apparently, No. 10 have been trying to get through for some time but our phone has developed a curious fault. For the person ringing from outside, the ringing tone continues but we don’t hear it, so it simply sounds to the caller as though we are out. I rapidly ring No. 10 and ask for Clive Whitmore.62 He asks whether I’m in London on Monday and could I come in to see the Prime Minister at 10.20 a.m.? He tells me it’s about changes in the government and I press him a little harder to see if I can get some more information. Clive is much more forthcoming than the Chief Whip was when I was in Casablanca. He tells me that he hopes it will be good news as far as I am concerned, that he would expect me to be offered a job that I had done in opposition. I say that sounds fine and ring off. What that means of course is that I will be offered the job of social services. It is not a job that I expected in the least to be offered. It is a very major department. Frankly, for me, there is a feeling of anti-climax. It certainly wasn’t the department that I was looking for and the prospects of making political runs in social services don’t immediately seem great.

         MONDAY 14 SEPTEMBER

         I arrive at Downing Street at about 10.15 a.m. It’s the first time that I’ve been involved in a reshuffle in person and turned up in Downing Street. The entrance is thronged with photographers and cameramen. I smile pleasantly, I hope, say good morning and go into No. 10. As no one 50is there to meet me, I make my way to the Cabinet room. One of the attendants asks if I would mind waiting in the waiting room. This I do. I must be in there about twenty minutes when David Howell also comes in. We murmur pleasantries to each other. Eventually, in comes Clive Whitmore. He jokes about the arrangements going wrong. In other words, ministers are not expected to meet each other as they go in to see the Prime Minister. He leads me up to the Prime Minister’s drawing room and says that the delay has been because she has had a difficult meeting prior to mine. This has been with Jim Prior, whom I meet on the stairs. Jim is red-faced and flanked by the Chief Whip. The meeting has gone on for much longer than planned. Margaret clearly wants to make progress when it comes to me. She offers me social services which, given the conversation of last night, hardly comes as a surprise. She then goes on to describe the junior ministers whom she would like to go with me. She wants Geoffrey Finsberg to take George Young’s place. George has fallen out of favour in this job because of his espousal of the anti-smoking cause (he is the minister for health!) and his opposition to sponsorship. Margaret says that if he doesn’t lay off soon there won’t be any tobacco firms prepared to sponsor any sport in the country. I say I would like Ken to join me as a Minister of State. Margaret obviously thinks there is something in this, but can’t see how she can move both of us. She confirms that David Howell will be taking over at transport but she doesn’t tell me where Patrick Jenkin will be moving to. It is a very friendly chat. 

         Leaving, I meet Nigel Lawson coming up the stairs. If David has got transport, I suppose then Nigel must have energy. The crowd of photographers and cameramen outside has grown even thicker. Clearly the word has got out that today is the day. I walk as briskly as possible to my car and make my getaway. Someone calls out my name and I give a wave of my hand. From No. 10 I go back to the Department of Transport, tell Ken what has happened and say that I don’t think that I’m going to be successful in getting him over. I will have another go, but I fear that it looks as though he is going to be stuck where he is for the present. He 51is obviously disappointed, but not, I suspect, as put out as he would be if Nigel Lawson was to be his number one. I spend the next few hours with Chris and Patrick from the private office, packing my pictures and belongings and files into packing cases. Just after lunch, a call comes through from David Howell asking when he can come round to have a chat with Peter Baldwin. Apparently, David has already packed up his office and has simply left. At about 3 o’clock I decide that the best thing to do is to make an approach to the DHSS and Patrick Jenkin’s private office to see what the position is. Tony Mayer rings up to find that no one in the DHSS knows what’s happening. This of course could mean anything. It could mean that Patrick is going to be told what will happen once Jim Prior’s fate is decided. Eventually, at about 5.30, the news comes through that Patrick is moving to industry.

         Driving over to the DHSS, I become aware for the first time of just how far away it is. The office is at the Elephant and Castle and we enter by some extraordinary back route, which takes us to what is called the ministerial lift. It is rather like entering some enormous warehouse. My immediate concern is that there is a paper at Cabinet tomorrow morning which has been put in by Patrick Jenkin about pay in the National Health Service; a subject upon which I am not notably well briefed and the biggest by far of what Peter Baldwin calls the smouldering fires. I go to bed unelated. I am very conscious of the new knowledge that I need to acquire very quickly indeed.

         COMMENT

         The result of the reshuffle was that I returned to all the problems that I left behind in 1976, but with the obvious difference that I was now responsible for sorting them out. A triumphant return? That was not remotely my feeling at the time. The immediate problem was the pay of the vast workforce of doctors, nurses and support staff. I do not know how many of my predecessors felt as I did that working with the health unions was often more constructive than with the spokesmen of the British Medical Association (BMA) and the consultants. But health was only half of my job: pensions and social security 52caused even more challenges. Facing the need that existed among the poor and providing them and everyone else with a decent pension were issues that had faced a succession of commissions and inquiries – the most famous of which was that of Lord Beveridge, whose report was implemented just after the Second World War. The whole system was now beginning to show its age.

         
            35 The inquiry into the value of pensions (Chairman Sir Bernard Scott). Report published 5 February 1981 – Cmnd 8147.

            36 A distinguished former Cabinet minister who was rather out of his time. He had once been private secretary to Stanley Baldwin in an age before community politics.

            37 Labour MP and journalist, deputy leader 1983–92.

            38 After the Labour Party’s defeat in 1979, relations between the left- and right-wing factions had become increasingly acrimonious. At Wembley, the left wing successfully reduced MPs’ influence over the party’s choice of leader. The following day, four senior Labour politicians, all MPs or former MPs and Cabinet ministers on the right of the party: Roy Jenkins, David Owen, Bill Rodgers and Shirley Williams, signalled their intent to leave the Labour Party and went on to form the Social Democratic Party (SDP).

            39 My personal involvement was limited to buying one of the new Metros, which was billed as an example of what British engineering could do. It was a perfectly good car but the trouble was that the ‘new’ technology that built it was years behind its German and Italian equivalents.

            40 Ray Buckton and Sid Weighell may not have much cared for me but this was as nothing compared to their enmity for each other. In meetings they always sat at opposite ends of the table. You still have echoes of these divisions between skilled drivers of ASLEF taking different views to the general railway workers of the NUR.

            41 This was the prelude to the miners’ strike of 1984–85, one of the bitterest strikes in Britain. Margaret Thatcher had no intention of being caught unprepared again.

            42 When MacGregor was appointed Chairman of the British Steel Corporation, he was expected to deal with its low productivity and initiated a major reorganisation but needed government support for his corporate plan. This was given reluctantly.

            43 In 1977 Labour MPs Jeff Rooker and Audrey Wise ensured legislation was passed so that the personal tax allowance would be linked to inflation. Primary legislation is needed if it is not to rise with inflation.

            44 It was a period which left a permanent mark on the Chancellor. Years later when we were discussing John Major as the successor to Mrs Thatcher, Howe protested to me that Major had never had to increase taxes. His political virility had never been tested.

            45 British economist who was best known as the chief economic adviser to the Prime Minister from 1981 to 1983, and again for five months in 1989 when he played a prominent part in Nigel Lawson’s resignation.

            46 A joint review of rail electrification by the department and the industry, February 1981. It concluded that electrification was a sound investment and could offer real gains in efficiency and productivity.

            47 The Central Policy Review Staff (CPRS) was an independent unit within the Cabinet Office tasked with developing long-term strategy. It was established by Edward Heath in February 1971 but was later disbanded by Margaret Thatcher following the 1983 general election.

            48 A simple totting-up system was introduced in 1972. The trouble with that was that it did not distinguish between minor speeding offences and potentially more dangerous ones. My proposal was to replace it with a points system where offences should be graded according to severity and allotted a number of points. When twelve points are accumulated within a three-year period, disqualification for at least six months would follow.

            49 Sands died a few days later on 5 May. All told, ten republican prisoners died in the 1981 hunger strike and around sixty civilians, police and soldiers died in the seven-month campaign that followed.

            50 My old school was King Edward VI Grammar School in Chelmsford. I owe Nigel Fanshawe a big debt. He pushed some of us into the sixth form early to concentrate on A-levels. For the first time, I had to work hard and won a place at Trinity Hall, Cambridge. If I had not gone to university, my father (with the best possible motives) had plotted that I be articled to either a chartered accountant or a solicitor; neither career appealed.

            51 A slight exaggeration. John Biffen was also a grammar school boy.

            52 The NFC became more than a management buy-out. Shares were distributed at all levels of the company with the result that AGMs were exceptionally well attended with 2–3,000 there – and the lorry drivers were not shy in putting their concerns direct to the chairman.

            53 A respected journalist. He was a lobby correspondent at Westminster for many years, political editor of Independent Television News, 1975–81 and The Times, 1981–86.

            54 A legendary figure of post-war journalism. He was editor of the Sunday Times, 1967–1981, then The Times for a year from 1981 before being forced out by Rupert Murdoch.

            55 The Law Lord who chaired the public inquiry into the causes of the 1981 race riots in Brixton. He had previously chaired inquiries into the August 1969 riots in Northern Ireland, the Red Lion Square disorders and the Grunwick dispute.

            56 The Social Democratic Party (SDP) was formed in March 1981 by Shirley Williams, Roy Jenkins, David Owen and Bill Rodgers. Williams and Jenkins lacked parliamentary seats and with Liberal support, Jenkins became the SDP’s first parliamentary candidate in Warrington. It was regarded as a safe Labour seat but Doug Hoyle only narrowly held it. Roy Jenkins was a close second, taking votes from both the Conservatives and Labour. The result was: Labour 14,280, SDP 12,521, Conservative 2,102.

            57 Conservative MP for Eastbourne, exceptional PPS to Thatcher. He was assassinated by the Provisional IRA in 1990 when a bomb under his car exploded outside his home in East Sussex.

            58 Rajiv Gandhi served as the sixth Prime Minister of India from 1984 to 1989 after the assassination of his mother. He himself was assassinated by a suicide bomber during the election of 1991.

            59 The Observer journalist, one of the best political reporters of the time.

            60 When written that part of the story was certainly correct: Jim later changed his mind, much to the frustration of those journalists who had been told of his original intent.

            61 Political secretary to Margaret Thatcher and later Chief of Staff to Michael Howard when he was Conservative leader. Created a life peer in 2013.

            62 Civil servant, Margaret Thatcher’s principal private secretary 1979–1982.
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